
This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by 
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

Item No. AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  OPEN FORUM 

Up to half an hour will be set aside or members of the public to raise 
issues that are relevant to the business of the Committee and/or the 
Township. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 7

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of Pennines Township 
Committee held 19th March 2019 

6.  PROPOSED NEW SITE OF BIOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE 8 - 11

To consider proposed Sites of Biological Importance in the Pennines 
Township 

7.  OBJECTIONS TO TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER - 
HOLLINGWORTH ROAD AND CANAL STREET, LITTLEBOROUGH 

12 - 28

Meeting of:  Pennines Township Committee
Date: Wednesday, 12th June, 2019
Time: 6.00 pm
Venue: Training and Conference Suite, First Floor, 

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Public Document Pack



To consider objections to a proposed Traffic Regulation Order, at 
Hollingworth Road and Canal Street, Littleborough 

8.  PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDS REVIEW 29 - 63

To approve Pennines Township’s Funds, terms and conditions, and to 
agree delegation arrangements concerning funding decisions in 
2019/20 

9.  PENNINES TOWNSHIP DELEGATION ARRANGEMENTS AND 
APPOINTMENTS 2019/20 

64 - 67

To confirm the 2019/20 delegation arrangements for the Township 
Committee and make appointments as required.   

Pennines Township Committee Members
Councillor Irene Davidson Councillor Ashley Dearnley
Councillor Janet Emsley Councillor John Hartley
Councillor Aftab Hussain Councillor Andy Kelly
Councillor Rina Paolucci Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor John Blundell Councillor David Bamford
Councillor John Taylor Councillor Tom Besford

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Peter Thompson
Governance and Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone:01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Tuesday, 19th March 2019

PRESENT:  Councillor Mir (in the Chair); Councillors Bamford, Blundell, 
Davidson, Dearnley, Emsley, Hartley, Hussain, Kelly, Stott and Taylor.

OFFICERS:  T. Knight, I. Trickett, C. Woods (Neighbourhoods Directorate), F. 
Davies (Children’s Directorate) and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Two members of the public

APOLOGIES
30  An apology for absence was received from Councillor Paolucci.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
31 There were no declarations of interests.

OPEN FORUM
32 The following matter was raised as part of the Open Forum:-

a) Our Rochdale: The Online Directory of Services
Further to minute 20 of the meeting of Pennines Township Committee, held 
16th October 2018, a Member raised a question relating to the ‘Our Rochdale 
Online Directory of Services’ presentation at that meeting and he sought an 
update in relation to: the ‘integration with the Council website’ and ‘how 
private businesses on the website were vetted’.

Resolved
The Pennines Township Officer be requested to seek clarification relating to 
the Online Directory of Services, as noted above, and to circulate any 
response received thereon to Members of the Township Committee.

METRO MONEYWISE CREDIT UNION
33 The Chair advised that this item had been withdrawn from the agenda 
and would be considered at the Committee’s next scheduled meeting on 12th 
June 2019.

MINUTES
34 Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of Pennines Township Committee held 15th 
October 2018 be approved as a correct record.

PENNINES TOWNSHIP DELEGATED AND FUNDING SUB-COMMITTEE
35 Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of Pennines Township Delegated and 
Funding Sub-Committee, held 13th February 2019, be noted.

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



THE NEED FOR EXTRA PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES 2019 - 2023
36 The Township Committee was consulted on a report of the Director of 
Children’s Services which advised that there was a need to keep under review 
the need for extra class places in each of the Borough’s Townships. The 
purpose of the report was to set out proposals to address the need for extra 
Reception Year places. Pupil place planning sought to ensure that the 
Townships were kept aware of school spaces and pupil numbers within their 
area and to aid local government decision making.

In considering the report Members sought clarification on certain terminology 
in the report including the location of ‘Pennines Central’ area, what was meant 
by ‘bulge classes’, whether an how many additional primary school places 
were being planned in light of extensive property developments across the 
Pennines Township footprint, if primary schools in Milnrow would be included 
in the consultation, the possibility of joint working with Oldham Borough 
Council especially in primary schools in Newhey which often took in children 
from Shaw in the Oldham Borough because of proximity and ease of access 
issues. 

Resolved:
1. The report be noted.
2. The Director of Children’s Services be requested to respond to issues 

raised by members of the Township Committee.

Reasons for the recommendations:
The Council has a statutory duty to provide education and school places to all 
school aged children living in the borough and consequently has a duty to 
plan adequately for predicted pupil numbers.
Eligible for Call-in: No

THE NEED FOR EXTRA YEAR 7 SCHOOL PLACES 2019-2028
37 The Township Committee were consulted on a report of the Director of 
Children’s Services which outlined strategies for managing the predicted 
shortfall in year 7 places for the intake years of 2019 and 2020. Appropriate 
staff in Children’s Services were working to aid the Department for Education 
and any successful academy to open a new school in the Borough for 
September 2021 for future places that are needed.

The Council’s Schools Organisation and Planning Team were currently in 
discussions with schools about any additional places offered for September 
2019. It was anticipated that the numbers of additional places would change 
from those presented in the submitted report for ‘own admission’ authority 
schools. The government had made an announcement to say they were going 
to fund all special school applications that “meet the criteria”. Rochdale 
Council has submitted an expression of interest to have a new secondary 
special school specializing in Autism and Communications special needs. The 
Committee was asked to note the plans for extra capacity for September 
2020.

Page 4



In considering the report Members of the Committee requested details of 
strategies in place, or proposed, to deal with likely shortfalls of secondary 
school places between 2019 and 2028. It was noted that at Wardle Academy 
for example, due to a proposed reorganisation there would have to serve 
lunch in three sittings to accommodate all pupils and there was not enough 
space for ‘general’ assemblies to be held. Members of the Committee sought 
clarification on safe walking routes for pupils (to and from school). Members 
asked if a direct transport link (school bus) could be operated for those 
Littleborough (and other Pennines based children) who attend the Kingsway 
Park High School in Rochdale. Members of the Committee also requested 
sight of the admissions criteria for Hollingworth High School, Milnrow.   

Resolved:
3. The report be noted.
4. The Director of Children’s Services be requested to respond to issues 

raised by members of the Township Committee.
Eligible for Call-in: No

PROPOSED TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER - BETHANY LANE, 
NEWHEY
38 The Township Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods, which reminded Members that the Council’s Highways 
Service had been commissioned to consult with residents of Bethany Lane in 
order to gauge views on a proposal to permanently close the lane to through 
traffic. The most effective way to prevent through traffic movements at 
Bethany Lane, Newhey, is to introduce a Traffic Regulation Order prohibiting 
its use by all motorised vehicles over a specific short length of carriageway. 
This proposal was put forward in a consultation leaflet delivered to local 
residents in January 2017.

Following discussions between residents and Milnrow and Newhey Ward 
Members, there was majority support for a closure of Bethany Lane to be 
implemented on an experimental basis. There then followed a six-month 
objection period for affected parties to raise their concerns and no objections 
were received. Milnrow and Newhey Ward Members engaged with local 
residents and there was support to make the Order permanent.

Alternatives considered:
The Committee could consider recommending that the experimental Order be 
not made permanent.

Resolved:
Pennines Township Committee agrees that the Temporary Traffic Regulation 
Order in respect of Bethany Lane, Newhey, be made a permanent Order. 

Reasons for the decision:
The Council, in proposing to make the Order permanent is operating within 
the provisions of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and its major effect 
would be to prevent ‘through traffic’ from using Bethany Lane, a measure that 

Page 5



has the support of those who reside in the area and of Milnrow and Newhey 
Ward Councillors. 
Eligible for Call-in: yes

PENNINES NEW ALLOTMENTS PROVISION
39 The Township Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods which advised that across the Borough there were currently 
524 allotment plots, which was not considered to be not enough to meet 
current demand. As at 25th February 2019 there were 985 people on the 
waiting list for an allotment in the Borough, more than quadruple the figure in 
2015.  Allotment plots were presently allocated at the rate of 30 plots per year 
through natural turnover and, on average, the Council received 160 new 
applications for allotments year on year.  The waiting time had therefore 
increased significantly from seven years in 2015 years ago to a potential 33 
years if the demand was to remain at its present level.  

The Council’s Environmental Management Service had been tasked with 
creating 100 new plots a year, every year, for the next five years.  This had 
been approved by the Cabinet with provisionally allocated Capital funding to 
enable delivery. Each Township had been asked to identify viable sites within 
their boundaries. The Environmental Management Service had been working 
with the Council’s Planning and Estates services to create a list of potential 
sites.

The Committee was being asked to approve that formal consultation be held 
regarding the potential use of Great Howarth, Wardle/Smallbridge for new 
allotment provision. In addition Township Committee Members proposed sites 
at Barnes Meadows in Stansfield, Littleborough, land in Newhey (between 
junction 21 of the M62 and the Ellenroad Steam Museum) and land at 
Uncouth Road, Rochdale.

Alternatives considered:
A variety of sites across the Township had already been considered and 
declined at the shortlisting stage by officers for technical reasons. In addition 
Members were invited to nominate additional sites for technical testing to see 
if they were viable options.

Resolved:
1. The Committee approves that the following sites be approved, for 

consultative purposes, as potential sites for allocation for new allotment 
provision in Pennines Township: Great Howarth, Wardle/Smallbridge, 
Barnes Meadows in Stansfield, Littleborough, land in Newhey (between 
junction 21 of the M62 and the Ellenroad Steam Museum) and land at 
Uncouth Road, Rochdale.

2. Members of the Committee be requested to liaise with appropriate 
officers in the Council’s Environmental Management Service regarding 
areas for potential use as allotment sites, in their Wards.

Reasons for the decision:

Page 6



The recommendations in the report would enable the Council to work towards 
meeting recommendations of Government standards on how many allotment 
plots should be provided and would also enable the Council’s Environmental 
Management Service to make progress towards its target of achieving an 
additional 500 allotment plots across the Borough.
Eligible for call-in: Yes

PENNINES GRASS VERGE MANAGEMENT
40 The Township Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods which examined proposals for cutting grass verges across 
the Township. The proposals outlined in the report were intended to: deliver 
cost savings, develop a suitable habitat for wildlife; improve the appearance of 
the Township; minimise the need to mow; enable the trialling of new models 
for how verges are to be maintained; deliver floral verges in the summer 
months; and to retain a neat finish in the winter months after flowers have 
faded. The appendix to the report detailed a series of locations across the 
Borough where the proposed grass cutting could occur. This included a 
potential site at Birch Road Wardle, which Members of the Committee felt was 
inappropriate. As an alternative the roundabout at the junction of Albert Royds 
Street and Halifax Road, Smallbridge was proposed.

As part of the process to implement the programme, the Director of 
Neighbourhoods reported upon the intended use of a growth retardant 
chemical to slow the rate of grass growth and therefore reduce the frequency 
of mowing.  This would mainly be used on verges where Traffic Management 
Orders were required. Members expressed their concern at the proposed use 
of the growth retardant chemicals.

Alternatives considered:
To cease mowing entirely: this option not to be pursued except for 
rural/informal areas where that method will not look out of place.

Resolved:
1. The Township Committee approves the shortlist of sites detailed in the 

appendix to the report provided in the attached document, for the grass 
verge management scheme, on the condition that the growth retardant 
chemicals are not used.

2. The proposed site at Birch Road, Wardle be removed and replaced 
with a scheme at Albert Royds Street, Rochdale.

3. Members of the Committee be encouraged to advise appropriate staff 
in the Neighbourhoods Directorate of suitable potential locations in their 
Wards, for inclusion on the programme.

Reasons for the decision:
To enable the Council’s Environmental Management Services to improve the 
quality of grass verges in terms of floral features, wildlife habitat value and to 
reduce pollution whilst delivering budget savings.
Eligible for Call-in: Yes

Page 7



Report to Pennines Township Committee

Date of Meeting 12th June 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Planning, Development & 
Housing

Report Author Andrew Eadie
Public/Private Document

Proposed New Site of Biological Importance

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2  

1.3  

Sites of Biological Importance (SBIs) are local planning designations covering 
areas of nature conservation importance in Greater Manchester which contain 
locally valuable habitats, plants and animals. Whilst they are not statutory 
designations like Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) or Conservation 
Areas, and therefore do not provide legal protection, they can be taken into 
consideration when determining planning applications which may affect the 
areas and the nature conservation interest.

New SBIs and changes to existing SBIs are recommended on an annual basis 
by the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU) and are reported to the 
relevant Township(s) in order that they may be adopted for planning purposes.

The latest review which GMEU have undertaken has recommended that a 
new SBI is designated at Shaw Moss, to the east of Wildhouse Lane and 
south of Hollingworth Lake (see map at the end of this report). The reason for 
this proposal is because the site supports breeding bird populations, including 
lapwing, mallard and swallows and several other UK Biodiversity Priority 
Species. The site would be 3 hectares in size and is mainly marshland and 
grassland.

Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that Committee approve the new SBI so that the nature 
conservation interest of the area can be taken into account when planning 
applications which may affect that interest are being considered.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning 
decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by, amongst other things, protecting and enhancing valued sites of biodiversity 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



value. The areas in question have been identified by experts as being of local 
biodiversity value and we should thus try and protect this value by taking it into 
account in planning decisions.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1    

4.2 

4.3

4.4 

The planning system has a hierarchy of designations relating to areas of 
biodiversity importance. European level sites are those of the greatest 
international value and have high levels of protection, as do areas of national 
importance such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs). There are 
other areas which are considered to be more of local value, i.e. containing 
wildlife and habitats which are rare locally rather than nationally; in Greater 
Manchester these areas are designated as SBIs on the recommendation of 
the GMEU. SBIs are graded either grade ‘A’ (sites of county and regional 
importance), ‘B’ (sites of district importance) and ‘C’ (sites of more than local 
importance).

SBIs are not statutorily protected and landowners are not required to take any 
measures to protect them, but if an SBI could be negatively affected by a 
planning proposal, its existence can justify refusal of the planning application 
or requirements for measures to be taken to compensate for the harm caused. 
In addition, the presence of SBIs can be advantageous when bids are being 
made for funding for improving wildlife habitat in the vicinity. 

The proposed SBI at Shaw Moss is an area (three hectares) of improved 
pasture with areas of marsh, open water and a bulrush dominated swamp. 
There is also an area of heathland. The proposed designation is because of 
ornithological interest, including at least eight UK Biodiversity Priority Species. 
It is proposed that the new SBI is grade C. 

Alternatives Considered

4.4 T The alternative would be to not support the proposed SBI, which would leave 
this locally important area of habitat more vulnerable to damage from 
development in the area or nearby.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 There would be no costs to the Council or others from the adoption of the 
proposed SBI.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1 There are no specific risk or policy issues for Members to consider arising 
from this report.

Consultation

Page 9



7.1 There is no specific consultation to be carried out by the Council apart from 
this report to Committee. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.1 A full detailed description of the SBI and the species / habitats present can be 
obtained from the report author.

For Further Information Contact: Andrew Eadie, Tel: 01706 924371, 
andrew.eadie@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 10



                            

                             Proposed Shaw Moss Site of Biological Importance (SBI)

Page 11



Report to Pennines Township Committee

Date of Meeting 12th June 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Environment
Report Author Andrew Cowell
Public/Private Document Public

Objections to Traffic Regulation Order - Hollingworth Road and 
Canal Street, Littleborough

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

A request was received from Pennines Township for the Council to 
investigate the introduction of parking restrictions along Hollingworth Road. 
Members of the public reported issues of obstructive parking along the 
route. The parking activity is associated with members of the public visiting 
the lake and it is reported that during busy periods parking occurs on both 
sides of the Hollingworth Road. This affects both traffic and pedestrians.

A scheme detailing new parking restrictions was drafted and approved by 
ward members. The restrictions were formally promoted and during the 
consultation period the Council received two letters of objection to the 
proposal.

In general, the objectors report that the restrictions will unnecessarily reduce 
the number of available on-street parking spaces for visitors accessing the 
lake and request that the Council first look to increase the number of off-
street spaces available for visitors.

The report outlines the reason for the proposal, the objections received and 
a response to the objections.

Recommendation

2. The Committee should consider whether the proposed Traffic Regulation 
Order, Borough of Rochdale ((Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) 
(Various Streets) (Pennines Township) Order 2008) (Amendment) (No.71) 
Order be implemented as advertised, be amended, or be abandoned in light 
of the representations received, which are outlined in Appendix B of this 
report. It is the recommendation of Officers that the objections be dismissed 
and the proposal introduced as advertised.

Page 12

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Recommendation

3. Copy of Statement of Reasons

A request has been received from local ward members to review the existing 
restrictions on Hollingworth Road with a view to addressing issues of 
indiscriminate parking. An approved commissioning form has been received 
from Rochdale Township for the Council to promote new restrictions.

Hollingworth Road is classified as the B 6225 and extends from Hollingworth 
Lake to Littleborough Town Centre. The road is one of two access routes to 
Hollingworth Lake, the areas main major tourist attraction. The road is also a 
bus route and the alternative route for high vehicles avoiding the low bridge in 
Littleborough. It forms part of the Council’s strategic route network.

There are existing restrictions in place at the southern end of the road in the 
form of double yellow lines on the west side and a single yellow line on the east 
side. These extend to a point approximately 200 metres north of Lake Bank. 
The single yellow line restricts parking on weekends and bank holidays 
between Noon and 8pm. There are no further restrictions except towards the 
northern end of the route.

It is reported that visitors to the lake are parking to the north of the restrictions, 
often in a double parked arrangement, despite spaces being available within 
the dedicated car park located on the west side near to Lake Bank. Vehicles 
also park wholly or partially on the footway and on the single yellow line outside 
of the operational times.

The parking causes a number of issues:

 Obstruction to the flow of two-way traffic
 Obstruction of the footway
 Damage to the footway
 Reduction in forward visibility near the bend mid-route and at the bend 

close to Lake Bank
 Hazard created with vehicles manoeuvring into and out of spaces
 Hazard created with drivers and passengers opening car doors
 Delays to bus services

Due to the strategic importance of the route and the fact that the dedicated pay 
and display car parks are not fully utilised, it is the view of officers that further 
restrictions are fully justified.

The proposals also include promoting new restrictions along the whole route to 
protect junctions, crossing points and to prevent double parking further north. 
Due to the amount of off-street parking provision at each facility along its 
length, it is not considered that the restrictions would have a major impact due 
to motorists not being reliant on on-street parking places. However, restrictions 
are only proposed on one side of the road where the road widens and where 
there is a demand for on-street parking spaces. At the southern end, it is 
proposed to extend the operational hours of the single yellow line to 7 days a 

Page 13



week and include the peak periods. Due to the popularity of the lake, the area 
becomes equally as busy during the working week, especially during the 
summer months and during holiday periods. Vehicles parked on the single 
yellow line during the week therefore still present a hazard to all road users and 
interfere with the flow of two-way traffic.

The Police Injury Accident Database shows 5 recorded injury accidents along 
Hollingworth Road and Canal Street over the past 5 years.

It is proposed to promote new prohibition of waiting restrictions on both sides of 
Hollingworth Road and Canal Street, as detailed on the accompanying plans.

The proposed restrictions will improve traffic flow including bus services, 
increase forward visibility, protect crossing points, prevent obstruction of the 
footway and prevent further damage to the footway.

3.2 To address the issues reported, it is necessary to introduce the proposed 
Order as originally advertised (see Appendix A).

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

During the consultation period the Authority received two objection letters.

To comply with the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 1996 the Authority must consider all objections 
submitted during the consultation period of 21 days before ‘Making’ a Traffic 
Regulation Order.

It should be noted that in considering the report, the proposed Order is 
deemed strategic in nature and should be dealt with in accordance with 
Section 8.2.2 of the Scheme of Delegation to Township Committee. 
Committee has delegated power to confirm the proposals and the Order. 
However, if the Committee wish not to confirm the proposals and the Order, 
the matter must be referred to Cabinet for decision.

In considering the objections the Committee should be mindful that the only 
right the general public has on the highway is a right of passage along it. 
The Council, acting in its capacity as Highway Authority, have a duty of care 
to ensure the safety of the travelling public and a duty under the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 to maintain the expeditious movement of traffic.

The Objectors’ comments and the Director of Neighbourhoods response
are attached at Appendix B and C of this report.

Alternatives Considered

The Committee could consider recommending that the proposal be 
amended or abandoned.

Page 14



4.6 Should Committee decide not to introduce the restrictions proposed then the 
issues with parked vehicles, which were reported to Pennines Township 
Committee, will not be addressed.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The cost of the proposed Traffic Regulation Order will be met by Pennines 
Township Fund. The estimated cost is £6500.

Risk and Policy Implications

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that its highways operate safely 
and efficiently, for all traffic including pedestrians.

6.

Consultation

7.

7.1

7.2

7.3

Consultation required by the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders, (Procedure) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 has taken place.

The Emergency Services, Transport for Greater Manchester, The Freight 
Transport Association and the Road Haulage Association were consulted on 
12th March 2019.

Notices of intention were posted on site and published in the local 
newspaper on 13th March 2019.

The objection period ran until 3rd April 2019.

Background Papers Place of Inspection
None

Page 15



APPENDIX  A – Notice of Intention and plans

BOROUGH OF ROCHDALE
((CIVIL ENFORCEMENT OF TRAFFIC CONTRAVENTIONS)

(VARIOUS STREETS) (PENNINES TOWNSHIP) ORDER 2008)
(AMENDMENT) (NO. 71) ORDER

Hollingworth Road and Canal Street, Littleborough

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Rochdale Borough Council, in exercise of its powers under 
Sections 1(1), 2 and 4 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984, intend to make an Order, the effect 
of which would be to:-

(i) Amend the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic Contraventions) (Various 
Streets) (Pennines Township) Order 2008 by inserting the following:-

Schedule No. 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Hollingworth Road, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

n(iv) the south-west, west and north-west side for its whole length

n(v) the north-east side from its junction with Rakewood Road for a distance of 31 metres in a 
north westerly direction (from a point 17 metres south-east of the east side boundary of 
No. 115 Hollingworth Road to the west side boundary of No. 109 Hollingworth Road)

n(vi) the north-east, east and south-east side from a point 194 metres north-west of its junction 
with Rakewood Road to a point 258 metres south-west of its junction with Inghams Lane

n(vii) the south-east side from its junction with Canal Street to a point 45 metres south-west of 
its junction with Inghams Lane

Canal Street, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

n(iii) both sides for its whole length

Schedule No. 2.10
No waiting 8am-6pm

Hollingworth Road, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

n(i) the north-east side from a point 31 metres north-west of its junction with Rakewood Road 
for a distance of 163 metres in a north-westerly direction

(ii) Revoke those parts of the Borough of Rochdale (Civil Enforcement of Traffic 
Contraventions) (Various Streets) (Pennines Township) Order 2008, as follows:-

Schedule No. 1.1
No Waiting At Any Time

Hollingworth Road, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

n(i) the east side from its junction with Rakewood Road to the east side boundary of No. 115 
Hollingworth Road

n(ii) the west side from its junction with Lake Bank to a point 198 metres north of its junction 
with Lake Bank

n(iii) the south east side from a point 17 metres north east of its junction with Inghams Lane to 
a point 15 metres south west of its junction with Inghams Lane

Page 16



Canal Street, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

n(i) the east side from its junction with Halifax Road to a point 38 metres south of its junction 
with Halifax Road

n(ii) the west side from its junction with Halifax Road to a point 16 metres south of its junction 
with Halifax Road

Schedule No. 2.13
No Waiting Saturday, Sunday, Bank Holidays, Noon-8pm

Hollingworth Road, Littleborough Lakeside Ward

the east side from the east side boundary of No. 115 Hollingworth Road for a distance of 175 
metres in a northerly direction

A copy of the proposed Order and a map showing the lengths of roads concerned, together with 
the Council’s Statement of Reasons for making the Order, may be inspected at Littleborough 
Library, Hare Hill Park, Hare Hill Road, Littleborough, OL15 9HE during normal office hours, or 
viewed on the Council’s website www.rochdale.gov.uk/roads, or by phoning Highways on 0300 303 
8879.

Objections to the proposed Order, stating the grounds on which they are made, must be made in 
writing and forwarded to trafficorders@rochdale.gov.uk or, alternatively, to Network Management, 
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU to reach the Council on or 
before 3rd April 2019, quoting H60/1301.

Dated this 13th day of March 2019

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce) 

Resources Directorate
Rochdale Borough Council

Number One Riverside
Smith Street
ROCHDALE
OL16 1XU

Page 17

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/roads


Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



APPENDIX  B – Objections

Objection 1

Dear Traffic Planning.,
I am writing to register my objection the plans to place restrictions on Hollingworth road from 
the wine press all the way down to Littleborough on both sides.
I do agree restrictions on one side of the road to ensure free flow of traffic would be sensible 
but I see no reason for 2 sides of restrictions as the traffic can flow perfectly well when cars 
are parked on one side only. This is the only free parking round the lake and I have to 
wonder at a council that makes visiting the lake so difficult. Coaches also park on this road 
and there is NO provision for coaches anywhere else near the lake, these restrictions will 
lose valuable trade for the cafes and restaurants. The times the  parking is bad is small in 
number and mainly at the week end. It will also drive more cars on the housing estates that 
don’t have permit parking and creaet problems in residential areas whereas now the parking 
provided on one side creates no problems. I do not believe the council is supporting 
Littleborough the development of the Lake area or making it accessible. Why do you not 
charge at Queens park car park in Heywood when you charge at the Lake car park as many 
people visit there. 
Rethink your plans urgently please

Objection 2

1 Summary

I completely agree with the view that situation of the parking on Hollingworth Road is not 
satisfactory but feel that the proposal to just ban all parking it a too simplistic, even naïve 
approach and is not an example of good planning practice for the local community.  This 
document describes a phased approach to the parking ban alongside the development of a 
parking area on the old Akzo brownfield site that would have three benefits in three areas

 Provide parking for visitors to the Hollingworth Lake area
 Provide additional parking for commuters using the train from Littleborough station
 Assist in the development of Littleborough as a tourist destination area, thus boosting 

the local economy

2 Current Situation

Visitors to Hollingworth Lake can be split in to a variety of groupings.  There are some 
people who visit the Lake on a very regular/even daily basis to take healthy walks.  These 
visitors “the locals/regular” will be the ones who generally park on the southern side of 
Hollingworth Road, close to Hollingworth Lake.  The roadside parking ban on Hollingworth 
Road will not move these people into the present car park as it would cost them (many of 
whom will be retirees or pensioners) £250-500 per year in parking charges.  They will either 
desist from taking the exercise, (not what the Government wants) or move their activity to 
another area.  Though they are probably not high spenders at the Lake, they will still make 
some contribution to the local economy

Another significant group can be classed as the “tourists”, who visit the Hollingworth Lake on 
fine days, particularly in school holidays or at weekends.  These people come not only from 
within the Rochdale borough area, but also other parts of Greater Manchester and beyond, 
including Yorkshire.  It is these people who are likely to make most use of the leisure 
facilities, including those run by Link4Life the Rochdale Council subsidiary, and also the 
eating establishments around the lake.  Thus, they are contributing to the economy of the 

Page 23



local community, which in turn lead to jobs in the area.

It is on the days when the “tourists” arrive that the major parking problems arise.  Any 
statements along the lines of the “the dedicated pay and display car parks are not fully 
utilised” completely fails to understand the need for car parking spaces at a tourist or leisure 
facility.  The fact that there are large car parks near the Etihad Stadium for Manchester City 
F.C is not seen as an anachronism, because they are “under-utilised” on most days of the 
year, but in fact they are perceived as a fundamental necessity.  Car parking facilities at 
leisure and tourist facilities need to reflect the demand on the days when the visitors come.  
On the days when both sides of Hollingworth Road are occupied with parked cars, it is not 
because the drivers do not wish to use the car parks, it is because the car parks are full.
We overlook Wildhouse Lane/Milnrow Road and on the fine days, when the “tourists” are 
out, we regularly see cars come from the direction of Milnrow, often with families in them, 
and then they return about 15 mins later.  From our walks around the area on those type of 
days, we are very confident that the reason for a return trip in such a short time, is because 
they have been unable to find a parking space.  Thus, the lack of parking space, even after 
150 cars have parked on both sides Hollingworth Road, has just led to frustration that the 
visitors have not been able to enjoy themselves at the Lake, caused traffic chaos and 
pollution in Smithy Bridge for no benefit and loss of business to all the various 
establishments around the Lake area.

Motorists visiting the Hollingworth Lake area are already regularly parking in the surrounding 
estates on roads beyond the present “Resident only” restricted areas.  Thus, the present 
parking situation is affecting the local community with their roads being blocked by visitors.
It should also be noted that Wildhouse Lane south of the Littleborough/Milnrow border does 
not have any parking restrictions and thus there is a possibility that people would start to 
park on this road in a similar manner to that currently used on Hollingworth Road.  
Wildhouse Lane has an even higher traffic density than Hollingworth Road.  

3 Review of Statement of Reasons

It is ironic that a justification of the proposal is made that Hollingworth Road is a bus route 
just at the same time that Rosso has reduced the frequency of buses from 2 an hour to 1 an 
hour.  This will make it even more likely that people will use their car to visit the Lake.
As there is no significant industry in Littleborough north east of the area of the Canal 
St/Halifax Road junction and the railway bridge, there is minimal high vehicle traffic down 
Hollingworth Road and so that statement is not significant.  Most heavy vehicle traffic along 
Wildhouse Lane then uses Smithy Bridge Road and contributes to the problems at the 
Smithy bridge Road/Halifax Road junction

Sunday 31st March 2019 was dry, but a quite cold and windy day, thus definitely not a top 
“tourist” day.  Walks around the area showed that all 3 car parks around the lake were 
basically full for extended periods, with people being booked for parking in incorrect spaces.  
In addition, there were around 50-75 cars parked on the south western side of Hollingworth 
Road, down to the entrance of the old Akzo site. Thus, the statement 
“Due to the amount of off-street parking provision at each facility along its length, it is not 
considered that the restrictions would have a major impact due to motorists not being reliant 
on on-street parking places” is incorrect and an absolutely ridiculous claim to make and is 
contrary to the evidence.  It demonstrates that nobody has actually fully examined the facts 
of what happens at various times through the year and the holiday seasons.  Cars were 
going in to the Hollingworth Road car par and after finding it full, they were then driving down 
and parking on Hollingworth Road.

4 Proposal

4.1 New Car Park

Page 24



It is clear that there is not enough parking for visitors to Hollingworth Lake on the days when 
it is seen as a tourist attraction.  As a first step, a new car park should be built as soon as 
possible with a capacity of 150-200 cars on a brownfield site, adjacent to Hollingworth Road 
along the whole of the frontage of the old Akzo site.  This would be fenced off from the road, 
with entry through arches with approx. 2m height.  No overnight parking allowed, with this 
possibly being enforced through entry barriers, if this was considered necessary.  There 
should be no parking charges on this car park, so that people do have a chance of free 
parking, as is the situation on many other leisure/amenity facilities in Rochdale.
This proposal would go some way to solving the car parking problem at Hollingworth Lake 
without encroaching on green belt land or other green field areas.

4.1.1Advantages
It is considered that the car park would be of use to at least three types of car drivers.

4.1.1.1 Commuters
Within the GMSF, it is hoped to increase the proportion of long journeys to be carried out by 
public transport rather than by car.  However, at present there are very limited car parking 
facilities at both the Littleborough and Smithy Bridge railways stations.  The experience after 
the Beeching Report on the railways in the 60’s was that once somebody got in a car, they 
were unlikely to then switch to public transport, unless there were definite advantages from 
doing so.  Having to search for a car parking space in the morning, when you are aiming to 
catch a particular train, is not likely to encourage people to make the transition.
The GMSF also considers that a significant proportion the job increase in the Greater 
Manchester area in will be in the core area and the aim should be to assist all those workers 
to use Public Transport.  The New Metrolink through the Trafford Park area will further 
increase the proportion of the core area that can easily be accessed by public transport.
Whilst this Car Park would not be ideal, as it is not immediately adjacent to the station, it is 
considered that many potential railway passengers would accept the 200m walk to the 
northern end of the car park, given they would have a guaranteed parking space available.
Car parking by commuters would be expected to be at its highest during weekdays, rather 
than at weekends, and commuter traffic drops during holiday periods, so this demand is 
seen as being complementary to the demands by visitors, rather than clashing with that 
demand.

4.1.1.2 Visitors to Littleborough
One of the objectives is to make the Littleborough village centre a Tourist destination in its 
own right, to rival Hebden Bridge.  What puts people off trying to visit Hebden is the difficulty 
in parking and that problem applies to Littleborough as well, as there are almost no public 
car parking spaces.  The provision of this car park would improve the attractiveness of the 
Littleborough Village Centre to tourists and act as a base for groups of walkers.  This could 
lead to more tourist traffic for local shops, cafes, farmers markets and other festivals, thus 
boosting the economy and viability of the village centre which would improve the local 
community.
This group of visitors could also appreciate the triangular section of land between the 
northern section of Hollingworth Road and the Rochdale Canal that was landscaped around 
a decade ago, however it has unfortunately been rather neglected since then.

4.1.1.3 Hollingworth Lake Visitors
As shown above in section 3, even on an “non-ideal tourist day” there is insufficient parking 
in the Hollingworth Lake area.  A free car park in this area would be attractive to the “local” 
visitors and the active walking visitors.  “Tourist visitors” would be able to choose either of 
the 2 car parks on Hollingworth Road.

“Tourists” are prepared to pay for parking as shown by the high usage of the Lake bank car 
park.   This car park is fully surfaced, has good views, easy access to entertainment and 
eating establishments and has public convenience and rubbish facilities.

Page 25



In contrast, the Hollingworth Road Car Park is a disgrace.  Minimal money has been spent 
on it and it is seen solely as a “cash cow” by Rochdale Council, rather than as a public 
amenity.  The vegetation has been allowed to encroach on the parking are, there is no 
proper hard surface, so when it is wet there are many muddy areas.  The path towards the 
Wine Press is rough and not ideal for wheel chairs and push chairs.  There is no surfaced 
footpath from the car park towards the main focal points of the Lake and this path is 
completely unsuitable for wheel chairs/push chairs.  Because of its secluded position, in 
quiet periods drivers will also consider that it is more likely that their car is vandalised or 
burgled in the car park, compared to it being parked in full view on a main road.
A case for parking charges on the 3 car parks near the Lake can be made as it helps to 
ration the length of time during which people park and so leads to a higher turnover of users.  
The unsatisfactory position is that this income does not go to the Country Park, it just goes 
straight into the coffers of Rochdale Council.

4.2 Alteration to Parking Restrictions

Thus, I believe the parking restrictions should be along the lines of 
Until the car park is established, leave parking available on the south western side of 
Hollingworth Road from its present start point near the lake down to the location near the old 
lower entrance to the Akzo site.  No waiting at any time restriction should then apply from 
there along the north-western side of Hollingworth Road until it meets Canal St.  This would 
mean there is no parking on the bend. 
Restrictions on the east, north east and south east sides of Hollingworth Road and Canal 
Street should be as per the Notice.

5 Conclusion

I find it unbelievable that Rochdale Council is considering cutting 100-150 parking places 
(albeit now wholly satisfactory parking places) at its so called” Jewel in the Crown” tourist 
attraction without FIRST putting in place alternative arrangements.
The most likely result of just applying the proposed parking bans on Hollingworth Road, as 
set down in the Order Ref H60/1301 in would be a reduction in the numbers of people 
visiting the Hollingworth Lake and Littleborough area.  There would also be significant 
increase in the amount of parking in the housing estates beyond the present “resident only” 
parking areas.  Both of these effects would have a negative impact on the local community 
and local businesses, including those operated as franchises from Rochdale 
Council/Link4Life and goes against the idea of trying to encourage people to improve their 
health by being fit and going for walks 
Rochdale Town Centre is the classic case study of how lack of appreciation of the needs of 
motorists can ruin an area.  In the latter decades of the 20th century, various moves by 
Rochdale Council made it difficult or expensive for motorists to visit the Town Centre, with 
the final steps being the closure of the multi storey car park.  The result, the local population 
went elsewhere, mainly to Bury, and the resulting loss of footfall to the town centre led to 
shop incomes, shops closing, loss of jobs and Rochdale Town Centre becoming the 
depressing place that it is nowadays.  The recent moves to allow short term free car parking 
is a case of “too little, too late”, as it is very difficult to attract people back.   

Page 26



APPENDIX C – Response to Objections

The Council appreciate the availability of parking near to Hollingworth Lake is 
important, both in terms of the local economy and continuing to attract visitors to the 
area. Therefore, the Council will always try to maintain parking in the vicinity of the 
lake, where possible. However, the parking situation along Hollingworth Road has 
been the subject of complaints from users of the highway for some time. As Highway 
Authority, the Council’s duties are in respect of road safety and maintaining traffic 
flows, both of which must take precedence over the provision of on-street parking 
places.

In terms of providing additional off-street parking areas, when opportunities arise the 
Council will look to increase car parking capacity near to the lake in order to reduce 
the impact of visitor parking on the local highway network. However, the former Akzo 
Nobel brownfield site remains within private ownership. 

The Council appreciate that on some days the existing off-street car parking areas 
reach their capacity which then affects the highway network. However, it is also the 
case that parking occurs on Hollingworth Road even when there are spaces within 
the car parks.

In relation to comments made on the affect the proposal may have on residential 
areas outside of the Residents Only Parking Zone, previous investigations have 
found that visitor parking does not regularly extend beyond the existing residents 
parking control boundaries. Imposing onerous restrictions on additional residents 
each day throughout the year is not likely to be supported given the number of days 
when problems arise.

In relation to comments made on how few high sided vehicles use the route, whilst 
the numbers may in fact generally be relatively low, the route is used by such 
vehicles as an alternative route to re-join the A58 and the main tactical diversion 
route used for un-planned closures of the M62 (J-21 to J22). 

Although the frequency of bus services using the route may be reducing, it should be 
borne in mind that the indiscriminate parking along the route has been reported by 
bus operators themselves.

In terms of how the proposed restrictions will affect the availability of spaces for 
coaches, it is the view of the Council that the restrictions should not present a 
problem. Coach drivers have the ability to drop off passengers and wait with the 
coach elsewhere and return later to pick up passengers.

In summary, the Council do not believe that the parking activity in this area is 
acceptable given the strategic importance of the route and maintaining the 
expeditious movement of traffic along it, as well as ensuring the safety of its users. 
The Council will endeavour to make improvements to existing off-street car parks 
and look to increase off-street car parking capacity in future. However, as the issues 
along the route have now been brought to the attention of the Council, it has a duty 

Page 27



to formally promote a scheme to improve safety for all users of Hollingworth Road. 
The introduction of parking restrictions on only one side of the road is not supported 
by Officers due to the likelihood of parking activity simply being displaced on to the 
opposite side. Some of the issues identified would still occur even if on-street parking 
were to be restricted to one side only, such as motorists manoeuvring between 
parked cars, pedestrians boarding and alighting vehicles and the frequency of such 
movements.

Page 28



Agenda Item

Report to Pennines Township Committee

Date of Meeting 12 June 2019
Portfolio Neighbourhoods, 

Community & Culture
Report Author Sharron Worrall
Public/Private Document Public Document

Pennines Township Funds Review

1. Executive Summary

1.1 This report reviews the revenue and capital expenditure during 2018/19 and 
provides options for the allocation of funds in 2019/20.

1.2 Members are asked to approve Pennines Township Funds terms and 
conditions, and agree delegation arrangements concerning funding decisions.

2. Recommendation

2.1 Members note the expenditure, commitments and balances for Pennines 
Township revenue and capital funds at financial year end 2018/19 (Appendix 1 
and 2).

2.2 Members note the findings of the review of Township Funds 2018/19 
(Appendix 3) and evaluations received to date for some of the projects funded 
(Appendix 4).

2.3 Members approve the allocation of Pennines Township Funds to funding 
streams in 2019/20 as detailed in Appendix 5.

2.4 Members approve the terms and conditions for Pennines Township revenue 
and capital funds for 2019/20 (Appendix 6).

2.5 Members agree to the delegation arrangements for Pennines Township Funds 
2019/20 as detailed at 4.6 of this report.

2.6 Members agree any uncommitted/unspent funds be reallocated to a central 
revenue or capital funding stream as appropriate before the end of January 
2018 to enable Members to spend/commit all Pennines Township Funds 
during 2019/20 financial year.

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Management of the Pennines Township Fund is delegated to the Pennines 
Township Delegated & Funding Sub Committee.

3.2 Pennines Township Funds are allocated to projects that benefit the 
Township’s community and environment, and realise the Township priorities.

3.3 To enable committee to monitor and review the use of the Pennines Township 
Funds to ensure continued efficient and effective use of the funds.

4. Key Points for Consideration

4.1 Members note expenditure, commitments and balances for Pennines 
Township revenue and capital funds 2018/19 (Appendix 1 and 2).  The final 
outturn for financial year 2018/19 as agreed with Accountancy will be reported 
to the next scheduled funding committee.

4.2 A review of Pennines Township revenue and capital funds has been 
undertaken (Appendix 3).  Findings have influenced funding streams 
suggestions, the terms and conditions of the funds and the administration 
procedures for grant applications for 2019/20.

4.3 Evaluation of projects provides useful information to the Township relating to 
identifying the effectiveness of the application process and management of 
grants; whether projects deliver value for money; applicants achieve their 
objectives and evidence their successes, and ensure that the completed 
projects funded complied with the terms and conditions of the Pennines 
Township Fund.  Grants awarded and projects funded have made a difference 
to the local community with improvements to local facilities, increased social 
interaction and delivery of solutions to address local needs.  All successful 
applicants are informed that it is a condition of the grant that they complete a 
project evaluation form.  Members are asked to note the summaries of 
evaluation information received on projects which have been funded as 
detailed in Appendix 4.

4.4 Township Officers have analysed the findings from the review of Township 
Funds 2018/19 and recommend that Members approve the allocation of 
Township Funds to funding streams in 2019/20 as detailed in Appendix 5.

4.5 Terms and conditions for Pennines Township revenue and capital funds have 
been updated.  Members are asked to approve the terms and conditions for 
2019/20 (Appendix 6).

4.6 Members are asked to agree the delegation arrangements for Pennines 
Township Funds 2019/20 as follows:

a) Townships and Communities Manager, in consultation with the Chair and 
Vice Chair of Pennines Township Committee, may make decisions on the 
allocation of funds to all projects for £5,000 and under.  Any disputes 
concerning allocation of funds will be referred to the next Pennines 

Page 30



Township Delegated & Funding Sub Committee for decision.
b) Pennines Township Office will refer projects over £5,000 to the next 

Pennines Township Delegated & Funding Sub Committee for decision.
c) Delegated decisions will be reported for information to each Pennines 

Township Delegated & Funding Sub Committee to ensure all Members 
are aware of projects that have been approved.

4.7 Alternatives Considered

In considering the report, Members will decide whether or not to approve the 
allocation of funds to funding streams and adopt the terms and conditions.

5. Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 Pennines Township revenue and capital budget summaries that detail 
expenditure, commitments and balances for financial year 2018/19 in 
Appendix 1 and 2.  Recommendations for allocation of Pennines Township 
Funds to funding streams for financial year 2019/20 in Appendix 5.

5.2 Committee will receive regular reports to enable Members to monitor the use 
of the Pennines Township Funds to ensure best use of available resources.

5.3 Township funds are monitored on a monthly basis and financial monitoring 
reports will be presented to future committees.

6. Risk and Policy Implications

6.1 No specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this report.

6.2 The Townships Plan forms part of the Council’s policy framework.  The plan 
for 2017-19 will be regularly updated to reflect how funds are allocated across 
the Townships in line with the identified priorities.

6.3 The purpose of the Township Funds is to enable Township Committees to 
meet their respective Township priorities and to deliver actions to meet those 
priorities.

7. Consultation

7.1 None

Background Papers Place of Inspection

None N/A

For Further Information Contact: Sharron Worrall
sharron.worrall@rochdale.gov.uk
01706 924802

Page 31



APPENDIX 1

OVERALL SUMMARY - REVENUE 2018/19           £
 % Actual 

Spend 

 % Actual + 

Committed 

Budget b/f (2017/18) 64,197       64.36% 87.35%

Base Budget 2018/19 81,500       

Income from other funds/services 2018/19 -                

Budget Available 2018/19 145,697     

Budgets transferred to services/actuals 93,766       

Commitments 33,499       

Total Actual + Commitments 127,265     

Budget Remaining 2018/19 18,432       

Forecast Outturn 145,697     

Potential under/overspend 2018/19 -                

Funds

 Balance 

b/f 2017/18

£ 

 Base 

Budget 

2018/19

£ 

 Income/

Adjustments 

 Revised 

Budget 

2018/19 

 Actuals to 

Period        

 £ 

 Committed 

to Period     

£ 

 Virements 

within 

Township 

Funds 

£ 

 Virements 

to Services 

£ 

 Total to 

Period      

£ 

 Budget 

remaining 

2018/19       

£ 

Projects Fund 44,456       64,500       -                     108,956     57,953           24,439         (4,875)         20,892         98,409     10,547      

Events Fund -                5,000         -                     5,000         5,000             -                  -                  -                  5,000      -                

Pennines Town Centres Fund 15,628       -                -                     15,628       2,743             5,000           -                  -                  7,743      7,885        

Littleborough Lakeside Ward Fund 400            3,000         -                     3,400         2,053             -                  1,347           -                  3,400      0               

Milnrow & Newhey Ward Fund 3,385         3,000         -                     6,385         90                  2,060           -                  4,235           6,385      -                

Smallbridge & Firgrove Ward Fund 328            3,000         -                     3,328         800                -                  2,528           -                  3,328      -                

Wardle & West Littleborough Ward Fund -                3,000         -                     3,000         -                    2,000           1,000           -                  3,000      -                

Total 64,197       81,500       -                     145,697     68,639           33,499         -                  25,127         127,265   18,432      

PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDS REPORT 2018/19

P
age 32



APPENDIX 2

PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDS REPORT 2018/19

OVERALL SUMMARY - CAPITAL 2018/19           £
 % Actual 

Spend 

 % Actual + 

Committed 

Budget b/f (2017/18)            14,498 92.92% 94.87%

Base Budget 2018/19            77,600 

Income/Adjustments 2018/19           (27,160)

Budget Available 2018/19            64,938 

Budgets transferred to other services/actuals            60,338 

Commitments              1,270 

Total Actual + Commitments            61,608 

Budget Remaining 2018/19              3,330 

Forecast Outturn            64,938 

Potential under/(over)spend 2018/19                      - 

Funds

 Balance b/f 

2017/18

£ 

 Budget 

2018/19

£ 

 Income/

Adjustments 

 Revised 

Budget 

2018/19 

 Actuals to 

Period        

 £ 

 Committed 

to Period     

£ 

 Virements 

within 

Township 

Funds 

£ 

 Virements 

to Services 

£ 

 Total to 

Period      

£ 

 Budget 

remaining 

2018/19       

£ 

Capital Fund          14,234          69,600           (27,160)        56,674              5,475            1,006           (5,288)          52,151      53,344          3,330 

Littleborough Lakeside Ward Capital Fund 264              2,000           -                     2,264         -                     264              2,000           -                  2,264      -                

Milnrow & Newhey Ward Capital Fund -                  2,000           -                     2,000         -                     -                  -                  2,000           2,000      -                

Smallbridge & Firgrove Ward Capital Fund -                  2,000           -                     2,000         264                -                  1,736           -                  2,000      -                

Wardle & West Littleborough Ward Capital Fund -                  2,000           -                     2,000         448                -                  1,552           -                  2,000      -                

Total          14,498          77,600           (27,160)        64,938              6,187            1,270                    -          54,151      61,608          3,330 

P
age 33



1 

 

 

APPENDIX 3 

 

 

PENNINES TOWNSHIP YEAR END REVENUE & CAPITAL FUNDS REVIEW 2018/19 

 

REVENUE FUNDS 

Fund Budget Review 

Projects Fund £64,500 
Base Budget 

 
£44,456 

b/f 2017/18 
 

Projects Fund provides a budget to resource larger projects to address local issues/demands to benefit the local 
community and environment across Pennines Township. 
 
This fund was used to support 30 projects consisting of 14 community projects and 16 highways/environmental 
projects.  The variety of projects funded included painting the parapets on Reddy Brow and Ben Healey bridges, 
Littleborough; League for Life programme that will provide young people with the opportunity to obtain Rugby League 
sports coaching after school; redecorate the function room at Littleborough Coach House and provide new curtains 
and poles; Lantern Parade in Hare Hill Park, Littleborough with workshops in local schools and a series of adult and 
family workshops in the community at Ebor Studios and Hare Hill House; LED lamps for installation on a new lighting 
frame in Ellenroad Engine Room to establish a permanent set up for MAD Theatre Company productions and 
enhance the lighting to improve the museum experience; picket fence around Littleborough Christmas tree; hanging 
baskets/planters for seasonal planting displays to enhance the shopping areas in Newhey and Firgrove; repair of the 
gate to Wardle Cenotaph and installation of a handrail to improve access to the memorial; Milnrow Cricket Club 
Pavilion disabled access; provision of summer bedding, herbaceous plants, trees and shrubs for landscaping/planting 
schemes to improve existing and create new horticultural displays across Pennines Township and support the 
Pennines in Bloom entry 2019; Cotton Tree Corner, Newhey barrier baskets for floral displays; improvements to Hare 
Hill Park annual flower beds; Ellenroad Steam Museum Society’s children’s takeover day to encourage young 
people’s interest in the Engine House; Sail After Service programme in 2019 that will provide an opportunity for local 
veterans to learn to sail at Hollingworth Lake Water Activity Centre and improve their mental wellbeing, enhance their 
skills and develop friendships; installation of a grit bin on Simeon Street, Milnrow as this route becomes hazardous 
during wintry conditions; construction of a circular wall at Hollingworth Lake Pavilion to create a raised planting area 
for fruit trees and bushes; activities for local families with pre-school children in Ealees Woods that will encourage an 
early connection with their environment, develop their life skills and improve their health and wellbeing; security 
shutters with remote control for Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club Pavilion to improve access for their elderly or 
disabled club members; repair and reinstate approx. 70 metres of dry stone wall along the footpath at Hollingworth 
Lake and Smallbridge Library gentle exercise and coffee mornings to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
community. 
 
Unallocated and committed funds of £34,986 will be carried forward to 2019/20. 
 

Township Officers recommend the Projects Fund is allocated a base budget of £64,500 in 2019/20 (subject to final outturn agreed with Accountancy). 

P
age 34



2 

 

 
 
 

REVENUE FUNDS 

Fund Budget Review 

Ward Fund £12,000 
Base Budget 

 
£4,113 

b/f 2017/18 

Each Pennines Township Ward received £3,000 to allocate to smaller projects that would enable activities to take 
place to respond to local issues/demands for the benefit of the local community and environment.  This fund has been 
useful in providing a budget for dealing with issues that necessitated a quick response with Ward Councillors 
identifying projects and approval being sought from the Pennines Township Chair and Vice Chair. 
 
This fund was used to support 7 projects consisting of 6 community projects and 1 environmental project.  The variety 
of projects included a community consultation event to obtain local views to improve the facilities for Smithy Bridge 
train station; exhibition and activities at Hare Hill House to celebrate a range of women all associated with 
Littleborough throughout the national Heritage Open Days themed on Extraordinary Women; contribution to the 
restoration and reinstatement of the paths to the War Memorial located in the grounds of St James Church, Milnrow; a 
poppy cobble mosaic in Milnrow Memorial Park with facilitators working with local school children to create the mosaic 
and arrange its installation in Milnrow Memorial Park as a community artwork to commemorate the 100th anniversary 
of the end of the First World War; repairs to existing paths and creation of new paths in Milnrow Memorial Park; 
provision of two table tennis tables for Belfield Table Tennis Club suitable for wheel chair access to encourage local 
children and vulnerable adults to participate in the sport and resources for activities/events that will provide social and 
environmental benefits to the village and community in Wardle. 
 
Funds of £4,875 were unallocated prior to financial year end 2018/19.  As agreed at Pennines Township Committee 
on 12 June 2018, these unspent funds were reallocated to the Projects Fund to be carried forward to 2019/20 
together with £4,060 committed funds. 
 

Township Officers recommend each Ward Fund is allocated a base budget of £3,000 in 2019/20. 

Events Fund £5,000 
Base Budget 

The Events Fund is available to resource events in Pennines Township that will bring neighbours together, strengthen 
community spirit and benefit the local economy. 
 
This fund was used to support Littleborough Rushbearing Festival 2018 that provided the local community and visitors 
with the opportunity to celebrate the heritage of Littleborough with the traditional entertainment of folk dancing and 
music, and family friendly activities. 

Township Officers recommend the Events Fund is allocated a base budget of £5,000 to contribute to Pennines Township events in 2019/20. 

P
age 35



3 

 

 
 
 

REVENUE FUNDS 

Fund Budget Review 

Town Centres 
Fund 

£0 
Base Budget 

 
£15,628 

b/f 2017/18 

Pennines Township received a budget of £25,000 in 2015/16 from Rochdale Council’s Economic Affairs Unit for the 
purpose of assisting the town centres within the Pennines Township to grow, prosper and diversify.  The Town 
Centres Fund was established to support creative ideas and to generate increased business and interest in shopping 
at the local town centres/high streets in Pennines. 
 
This fund supported 2 projects.  The Community Toilet Scheme that encourages local businesses to make their toilet 
facilities available to visitors/shoppers to address the lack of public conveniences and Littleborough Food & Drink 
Festival 2019 that will celebrate quality food and drink from local businesses with live cookery demonstrations and 
entertainment with the aim of supporting and promoting businesses in Littleborough. 
 
Unallocated and committed funds of £12,885 will be carried forward to 2019/20. 
 

Township Officers recommend the Town Centres Fund retains the brought forward budget in 2019/20. 

 

P
age 36



4 

 

 
 
 

CAPITAL FUNDS 

Fund Budget Review 

Capital Fund £69,600 
Base Budget 

 
£14,234 

b/f 2017/18 
 

£27,160 
Budget 

Reduction 

The Capital Fund has been used to deliver a range of projects that benefit the Township’s community and 
environment, and realise the Township priorities.  Projects were submitted from Councillors, Council Officers and the 
community.  Cabinet on 25 September 2018 approved a budget reduction of £27,160. 
 
This fund supported 10 projects consisting of 2 community projects and 8 highways/environmental projects.  The 
variety of projects funded included traffic calming and 20mph speed limit on roads in the Wheelwright Drive area 
consisting of two round topped speed humps and provision of 20mph zone signs; refurbish toilets at Ebor Studio to 
improve accessibility that involved fitting a wider door frame, altering the cubicle system to accommodate wheelchairs 
and removing/replacing one toilet with an accessible one with handrails; introduction of additional waiting restrictions 
on Hollingworth Road, Littleborough to prevent indiscriminate parking; installation of additional play equipment in 
Milnrow Memorial Park to improve the play provision for local children; implementation of access restrictions on 
Stubley Mill Road/Stubley Mill Lane, Littleborough to deter/resolve unauthorised access of motor/quad bikes that 
create conflict with vulnerable users on adopted public highway and public rights of way; introduction of waiting 
restrictions at the junction of Shore Mount and Shore Road, Littleborough to prevent indiscriminately parked vehicles 
obstructing the junction and the sight lines at this location; two Promenade planters with soil and compost installed at 
the Shore Bus Terminus to be maintained by local residents; provision of pole mounted litter bins on Two Bridges 
Road and Ogden Lane, Newhey and installation of a grit bin on George Street, Wardle as this route becomes 
hazardous during wintry conditions. 
 
Unallocated and committed funds of £4,336 will be carried forward to 2019/20. 
 

Township Officers recommend the Capital Fund is allocated a base budget of £69,600 in 2019/20 (subject to final outturn agreed with Accountancy). 

P
age 37



5 

 

 
 
 

CAPITAL FUNDS 

Fund Budget Review 

Ward Capital 
Fund 

£8,000 
Base Budget 

 
£264 

b/f 2017/18 

Each Pennines Township Ward received £2,000 to allocate to smaller projects that would enable activities to take 
place to respond to local issues/demands for the benefit of the local community and environment.  This fund has been 
useful in providing a budget for dealing with issues that necessitated a quick response with Ward Councillors 
identifying projects and approval being sought from the Pennines Township Chair and Vice Chair. 
 
This fund supported 4 projects relating to highways/environmental issues.  The variety of projects funded included the 
provision of 6 new litter bins in Milnrow Memorial Park; installation of two bollards on existing pedestrian dropped kerb 
at Louise Gardens, Smallbridge to prevent vehicular access to flag paved pedestrianised area; a directional sign to 
provide motorists and pedestrians with information about the location of St Andrew’s Church and installation of a 
bollard on Duke Street, Littleborough to prevent vehicular damage to a grass verge. 
 
Funds of £5,288 were unallocated prior to financial year end 2018/19.  As agreed at Pennines Township Committee 
on 12 June 2018, these unspent funds were reallocated to the Capital Fund to be carried forward to 2019/20 together 
with £264 committed funds. 
 

Township Officers recommend each Ward Capital Fund is allocated a base budget of £2,000 in 2019/20. 

 

P
age 38



APPENDIX 4 
 

 

 

 

  

“We felt the project had successfully given 
people a high quality experience, raising 
their awareness of their local area and 
inspiring them to get involved in its long 
term care” 
Jude Murray 
Director 

NatureEd CIC 

 

Recipient: NatureEd CIC 

Project: Explore Your Environment 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £1,450 

 

NatureEd CIC is a not-for-profit organisation committed to helping local communities enjoy 
and benefit from their local green spaces through exciting environmental opportunities.  
Working from their education base at Hollingworth Lake Visitor Centre, NatureEd offer high 
quality environmental education experiences at an affordable cost through a range of site-
based and outreach learning opportunities. 
 
Explore Your Environment provided eco-activity sessions for five local voluntary sector 
groups based in Pennines Township.  Participants were Wardle Brownies, 21st Rochdale 
(Dearnley) Brownies, 26th Rochdale (Milnrow) Brownies, 35th Rochdale (Newhey) Brownies 
and 24th Rochdale (Smithy Bridge) Brownies.  The sessions helped people to explore their 
local green spaces and to take an active role in caring for it.  Activities included bug hunting, 
making mini-beast homes, tree ID, creating decorations from natural materials, bird ID, 
making bird nesting stations and pond dipping.  Mini-beast homes and bird  
feeders created during the sessions have made physical improvements to  
the biodiversity of the local area. 

Page 39



  

 

NatureEd created a family-friendly Explore Your Environment map of Hare Hill Park and a 
new heritage activity.  The EYEspy Heritage Trail  
uses the map together with photographs and facts  
about features in the park to help local people  
to discover more about their local green space.   
The new resources have been shared with the  
Friends Group and they have been using the map for 
their events in the park.  A hard copy of the map  
has been made available for loan at Littleborough  
Library and members of the public can download  
their own copies free from NatureEd’s website. 
 
Young people who participated in the eco-activity 
sessions used the experience towards achieving their nature  
and wildlife badges.  NatureEd received 100% feedback rating from eco-activity group 
leaders about the activities with everyone expressing an interest in booking again.  The 
EYEspy resources for Hare Hill Park will encourage families to explore their local park, 
increasing physical exercise and having fun while learning about local heritage, so enhancing 
their health and wellbeing.  The Friends of Hare Hill Park are interested in using the Heritage 
Trail as part of their events programme and plan on developing other activities using the new 
map.  Explore Your Environment provided local people with the opportunity to get actively 
involved in understanding and caring for wildlife and raising environmental awareness. 

Wardle Brownies taking a close look at the 
wildlife living in the Sensory Garden at 

Hollingworth Lake then making homes for 
the mini-beasts to overwinter in 

“Wardle Brownies finding lots of creatures and having hands-on fun.  The 
Brownies favourites were holding snails, doing crafts and making bug 
houses” 

Leader for Wardle Brownies 

Page 40



  

Brownie Packs from Newhey and Milnrow finding out how birds build their nests and having a 

go themselves with clothes peg beaks, natural materials and clay eggs…then making nesting 

socks for the birds in their local area and own gardens 

Smithy Bridge Brownies finding out about the 

wildlife in the pond and woods in Ealees Valley 

(after their making bird nesting socks session 

was postponed due to the Beast for the East!) 

21st Rochdale Brownies learnt winter tree 

ID skills at St Andrew’s, Dearnley and made 

some fantastic traditional seasonal 

decorations from natural materials 

Page 41



  

“We have children who have specific needs 
and attending our Fun Days helps them in 
mixing and communicating with others who are 
not generally in their specific environment.  The 
Fun Days also give parents sometimes a much 
needed break during the long holidays” 
Deborah Davies 
Organiser/Treasurer/Secretary 

Cray Junior Activity Club 

 

Recipient: Cray Junior Activity Club 

Project: Summer Fun & Fitness Days 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £942.49 

 
Cray Junior Activity Club provides children with the opportunity to learn different skills and 
meet other children from local schools.  Club membership is open to all children from four 
years old who live on the Cray estate and immediate vicinity.  The club enables the children 
and young people to work together in a group environment to increase their self-confidence 
and awareness of other children’s needs.  Children are introduced to indoor/outdoor 
activities in a safe environment and encouraged to participate in activities of art, dance, team 
games, healthy eating, etc and trips to various establishments, ie farms, galleries, rock 
climbing, etc. 
 
Summer Fun & Fitness Days provided local children aged 4 to 14 years old with the 
opportunity to enjoy fun activities, healthy eating and exercise during the school holidays.  
The children engaged in sport with Link4Life coaches, circus skills workshop, learnt about 
birds of prey during a visit from Owl Rescue, created masks, lanterns and decorative 
coasters, clay modelling and painting in arts and crafts sessions, a lesson in Kai Zoku Hou 
kickboxing to learn basic self-defence in this martial art, making fruit kebabs and healthy 
sandwiches.  The sports encouraged the children to be more active and learn the 

Page 42



  

 

importance of teamwork.  Fruit kebabs and healthy sandwich making provided the children 
with an alternative to crisps, cakes and sweets as snacks.  Children realised their potential 
for creativity and imagination in crafting items to keep or gift to others.  Friendships were 
made as children of different ages and schools participated in the activities and the older 
children helped the younger club members. 
 
School holidays, especially the long summer breaks, can be isolating and boring for many 
children.  Cray Junior Activity Club delivered activities for local children that promoted 
healthy eating, regular exercise and acquiring new skills, knowledge and confidence.  The 
Summer Fun & Fitness Days gave the children experiences to broaden their horizons and 
great memories to embrace and share. 

“An average of 25 children came to each Fun Day had lots of fun and learnt 
new skills.  Word of mouth at schools has been a part of new children 
coming to the club” 

Deborah Davies, Organiser/Treasurer/Secretary, Cray Junior Activity Club 

Page 43



 

  

Page 44



 

 

  
“The refurbishment of the gallery has enabled 
us to put on a summer of high quality events, 
exhibitions and workshops.  Our excellent 
disabled access now means we can 
accommodate a wider demographic, 
especially for our ongoing programme of 
regular classes with the participants often 
having additional needs” 
Angela Tait 

Treasurer, Ebor Studio Group 

 

Recipient: Ebor Studio Group 

Project: Ebor Gallery Renovation 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £3,617 

 
Ebor Studio is an independent artist-run studio facility incorporating professional artist 
studios, sculpture resources and an informal educational programme.  The studio was 
originally built as ‘Ebor Mill’ around the 1870’s and it is a four storey building with well-
equipped workshop facilities and spacious accommodation.  The studio offers project 
opportunities and teaching resources catering for all levels of experience – regular classes 
and specialist short courses.  It is a productive environment for the creation of artistic works 
and promotes community engagement and education with a programme of exhibitions, 
residences and projects that benefit its members. 
 
In 2017 the gallery space on the ground floor of the studios was renovated and a portable 
ramp installed for accessibility.  Ebor Studio’s continued renovation of the building in 2018 
involved the opening up of the room next door to the gallery as a dedicated teaching/meeting 
room to free the gallery for a more diverse range of exhibitions as sculptural and installation 
shows were limited because of the multiple demands on the space.  For improved 
accessibility, changes were needed to the toilets and external/internal handrails.  Alterations 
to the toilets included fitting a wider door frame, altering the cubicle system to accommodate 
wheelchairs and removing and replacing one toilet with an accessible toilet with handrails. 
 
Ebor Studio’s refurbishment of the toilets will enable them to host a more extensive and 
inclusive range of classes and workshops with the improved accessibility of the building. 

Page 45



 

  

“The overall ‘food festival’ effect is very 
apparent – people are buzzing on the day 
and after the event, it really has a feel good 
factor and it gets people looking forward to 
subsequent events such as Rushbearing” 
Neela Jackson 
Voluntary Sub-Committee 
Member/Deputy Event Manager 

Littleborough Food & Drink Festival 

 

Recipient: Littleborough Food & Drink Festival Committee 

Project: Littleborough Food & Drink Festival 2018 

Fund: Town Centre Fund 

Awarded: £2,155.64 

 
Littleborough Food & Drink Festival on Saturday 9 June 2018 saw unprecedented numbers 
of visitors come to Littleborough centre to enjoy the event.  Hare Hill Road and Victoria Street 
areas formed the ‘festival hub’, accommodating two undercover seating areas, over 20 food 
and drink stalls, an entertainment marquee, the cooking demonstration kitchen and face 
painting for children.  The Children’s Cookery School led by Andy McKay was developed this 
year to offer three sessions and more places for children – its popularity resulted in the 
places being filled within 48 hours of being advertised.  A fun, learning opportunity was 
provided to the children and their parent/guardian, engaging children with cookery, sparking 
an interest and inspiring them through working with a qualified and experienced chef. 
 
The demonstration kitchen gave local chefs from The Green Door Restaurant the opportunity 
to showcase their talents, provide informative demonstrations for the public to watch and 
show the audience how they too could cook something similar.  This year the demonstrations 
took an impromptu interactive twist which saw chefs set an ‘Omelette Challenge’ with 
members of the public.  A fun additional element enjoyed by all and also made extra use of 
the kitchen. 
 

The Festival aims to give all participating businesses, whether food related, goods or 

Page 46



  

 
services, the opportunity to showcase their products and services and promote themselves 
to a much wider audience than they would usually have on a regular Saturday.  Each shop is 
responsible for their own ideas, offers and level of participation with those businesses 
embracing it seeing the best return. 
 
Littleborough Food & Drink Festival, now in its fourth year, was again successful in achieving 
an event that attracted large numbers of people, local and from outside the area, putting 
Littleborough on the map and creating a thriving event for all to enjoy.  The festival brings 
together local businesses with mutual relationships and connections made and also the 
community comes together for a day of fun and food. 
 
After the success of this year’s festival, Littleborough Food & Drink Festival Sub Committee 
have set the date for the event in 2019.  Ideas to improve the event include a different site 
plan to encourage more visitors into shops and reduce queues, provide more children with 
the opportunity to attend Children’s Cookery School led again by Andy and Jade McKay of 
Littleborough Deli and encourage additional local chefs to join in the cookery demonstrations.  
The event area should ideally accommodate 25 food stalls and the entertainment marquee to 
have a raised stage with PA, the cooking demonstration kitchen, children’s cookery school 
and two seating areas for the public.  Festival organisers anticipate that the event will grow 
year on year providing they can maintain the support they have received. 

Page 47



  

“A ‘stand out’ exemplary business that fully embraced the event and 
made the most of their opportunities was Taystees, Victoria Street. 
Taystees, recently under new ownership with a new Caribbean menu, 
used the opportunity fully to promote themselves and the event. They 
promoted themselves in the run up to the festival, created menus to give 
out on the day, voucher deals, took their food outside their premises for 
people to taste, directed people to their premises and generally took a 
wholly positive attitude to the event. What is rewarding is that it provided 
the springboard to launch into events and much to our delight they joined 
in Littleborough Rushbearing Festival in July” 
Neela Jackson, Voluntary Sub-Committee Member/Deputy Event Manager 

Page 48



  

“Through past experience and reputation 
people know what a good scheme this is – 
local children were encouraged to join and 
parents wanted their child to be active 
throughout the summer holidays” 
Michelle Krauza, Library Officer - Digital & 
Young People and  
Penny Butterworth (Libraries & Customer 

Services Team Leader) 

 

Recipient: Rochdale Council Library Services 

Project: Fit, Feed and Read 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £1,801 

 
Smallbridge Library’s Fit, Feed and Read was an initiative delivered in partnership with 
Link4Life throughout the school summer holidays aimed principally at children aged 5-11 in 
receipt of free school meals who might not otherwise have a meal at lunchtime in the school 
holidays.  The children had an opportunity to read and discuss the books they are reading, 
participate in arts and crafts and get active with outdoor sports sessions.  Link4Life promoted 
the initiative to all local primary schools by attending assemblies with information leaflets and 
registration forms.  Libraries promoted the scheme through the local press and on social 
media.  Local early help services also referred families to the initiative; supporting families key 
workers, social workers, integrated neighbourhood teams and community safety teams. 
 

Mischief Makers was the theme of the Summer Reading Challenge for 2018 that aimed to 
get children into libraries to keep up their reading skills and confidence during the long 
holidays.  The Challenge has a different theme each year and children can read any book as 
long as they are borrowed from the library.  Children receive special rewards each time they 
read a book and every child that completes the challenge is awarded a certificate and a  

Page 49



   

 
medal.  The Summer Reading Challenge is open to all primary school aged children and is 
designed for all reading abilities. All local primary schools are contacted and given 
resources to work with their local library to actively promote the National Reading Initiative.  
Every child is given information regarding the theme of the Summer Reading Challenge and 
encouraged to take part. 
 
Celebrating the 80th anniversary of the much loved comic, Beano, Mischief Makers Summer 
Reading Challenge provided each child who signed up with their own map of Beanotown to 
help Dennis, Gnasher and friends to find mysterious buried treasure.  By reading and visiting 
the library, children received stickers to discover where the treasure is hiding plus a medal 
and a certificate when they read any six books over the summer holidays.  Mischief Makers 
had a dedicated website for children taking part in the Challenge that allowed them to keep 
track of the books they read, write book reviews, enter competitions and chat to other 
readers. 
 
Children got up to all sorts of mischief enjoying craft activities and workshops from creating 
Dennis the Menace hair and mask, a Dennis in a box, a Bananaman shooter, Beano skittles, 
designing a cartoon character competition, designing a Fit, Feed and Read logo and a comic 
storyboard workshop.  Entertainment included Storytelling with Can ‘O’ Worms, Skylight 
Circus, John Piper’s Puppets, Craig Bradley the Poet, The Zoo Lab and Cartoon Storyboard 
Creations with Cat Jessop. 
 

Multi-sport coaches delivered the sport sessions utilising space in and around the library and 
Rochdale Supply Agency (RoSA) with Libraries’ staff and young volunteers facilitated the 
Read and Feed sessions.  The Fit, Feed and Read initiative provided the opportunity for 
young people to volunteer and develop new skills that will help them with their college and job 
applications. 

Page 50



            

 

Libraries partnership with Link4Life enabled resources to be optimised and offer a wider 
provision to those children who needed it.  A free meal for those children who might 
encounter difficulty receiving lunch when not in school was facilitated through a link 
established with FareShare (a charity that helps organisations working with people who could 
go hungry by distributing surplus food from the food industry).  A local caterer prepared and 
delivered a variety of sandwiches alongside the food from Fareshare to guarantee each child 
received a lunch and not be solely reliant on the fluctuating quantity of surplus food.  Tesco 
also provided a one-off supply of fresh fruit which was distributed between participating 
libraries and sports locations.  Over 332 meals were offered to the young people who 
attended the Fit, Feed and Read sessions across the borough. 
 
Fit, Feed and Read has attracted young people into the library to experience reading for 
pleasure, inspire their creativity, develop relationships with others and get active.  The 
provision of a free lunch has ensured some consistency for those children who are in receipt 
of free school meals. 

The scheme in 2018 was a success.  Key benefits: 

 Enhanced and supported mission for all children to read widely and for pleasure 

 Encouraged parental engagement and family involvement in reading 

 Helped schools make links with their local library and the wider community 

 Was intrinsically inclusive and contributed to the achievement of ALL pupils, 
including SEN disadvantaged pupils and the most able 

 Prevention of the tendency for children’s reading to dip over the holidays 

 Ensured consistency of the provision of a free lunch for those children in receipt 
of free school meals 

 
Michelle Krauza (Library Officer - Digital & Young People & Libraries) and 

Penny Butterworth (Libraries & Customer Services Team Leader) 

Page 51



      

“…we achieved fantastic results including 2018 
Champion Leader in the Dinky section, 2018 
Champions in the Tinies section, and runner up 
Troupe of the year for our Seniors” 
Joan Jones 
Treasurer 

Milnrow Morris Troupe 

 

Recipient: Milnrow Morris Troupe 

Project: Morris Dancing Championships 2018 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £1,500 

 

Milnrow Morris Troupe was formed in 1983 to teach the traditional art of Morris dancing that 
has its origins in the industrial towns of the region.  In the 19th century the dances often 
accompanied the local rushcarts or Rose Queen carnivals, or were performed during Wakes 
Weeks, when the local mills closed for the week.  The troupe of 30 dancers meets every 
Thursday to practice the four teams and socialise.  Milnrow Morris Troupe is run by 
volunteers and the teams regularly participate in displays and carnivals.  Members of the 
troupe all work extremely hard throughout the year to attend the annual championships. 
 
East Lancashire Morris Dancing Championships was held at Pontins in Prestatyn over the 
weekend of 12 to 15 October 2018.  The competition provided the girls/dancers from Milnrow 
Morris Troupe with the opportunity to experience the excitement of participating in the annual 
end of the season championships.  The troupe achieved Champion Leader in the Dinky 
section, Champions in the Tinies section and the Seniors obtained runner up Troupe of the 
year.  The amazing achievements of the troupe at the Championships has resulted in an 
influx of new dancers.  Families and friends of the troupe members joined them at the 
competition and shared their successes and it was truly a community occasion. 

Page 52



 

 

 

 

  “People were very complimentary about 
what we were doing and some called on 
the sites every day to see progress.  It 
was very encouraging for our members” 
Ray Smith 
Chair 

Pennines in Bloom 

 

Recipient: Pennines in Bloom 

Project: Pennines in Bloom 2018 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £5,000 
 

Pennines in Bloom aims to promote the development of new and existing facilities in all 
areas of Pennines Township to create and restore the environment.  A voluntary group 
consisting of representatives from across the community are working towards sustainable, 
long term environmental improvements that will benefit the local community and nurture 
understanding, appreciation and respect of our natural landscapes and the build 
environment. 
 
Summer bedding plants and shrubs for landscaping/planting schemes across Pennines 
Township have been provided to create attractive horticultural displays and support the 
Pennines in Bloom’s entry to the RHS North West in Bloom Competition 2018 that rewards 
horticultural excellence, community involvement, environmental friendliness and 
sustainability.  An established team of volunteers have worked in partnership with schools, 
community groups, businesses and Rochdale Council’s Environmental Management to 
enhance existing green spaces and create new horticultural features.  Planting schemes 
were created at Littleborough Fire Station, Smithy Bridge Library, Littleborough Canal Side, 
Littleborough Village Medical Centre, Milnrow Precinct, Milnrow Library, Hare & Hounds 
Public House and Globe Public House in Wardle, Wardle Library and the Play Area with a 
beautiful mix of blooms selected to complement the locations from Trailing Golden Nepeta in 
the boat planters to Antirrhinum along the railings at Littleborough Fire Station.  Three new 
boat planters (two on Hollingworth Road and one at Durn Lock) were features that enabled 
the Pennines in Bloom members to showcase their horticultural abilities. 

Page 53



 

  

 

RHS North West in Bloom recognised the efforts of Pennines in Bloom with a Gold Medal in 
the category Large Town with individual awards of Gold for Hollingworth Lake Country Park, 
Silver Gilt for Wardle Village as Best Large Village and Milnrow Memorial Park for RHS Parks 
Award.  Empowerment of the local community to make a difference to their green spaces and 
where they live ensures our environment is safeguarded for the future. 

 

Canal side at Hollingworth Road, Littleborough 

The Globe Public House, Wardle 

Littleborough Fire Station Crab apple trees, Wardle 

Page 54



  

“…works will certainly now assist our 
mixed community club to evolve and 
prosper for the good of everyone locally” 
Ken Davies MBE 
Club Chairman 

Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club 

 

Recipient: Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club 

Project: Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club Car Park Development 

Fund: Capital Fund 

Awarded: £6,000 

 

Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club is a community bowling and social club that aims to 
provide facilities for the local community and their guests to enjoy the game of crown green 
bowls.  This social activity is enjoyed by young and old (members aged from 8 to 80 plus) 
with the sport encouraging mutual understanding and respect between the generations.  
Crown green bowls provides the opportunity for young people to participate in this 
diversionary activity plus it is a socially inclusive sport for older people. 
 
Land adjacent to the main disabled access path into Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club was 
gifted to the club from a developer and the club have taken the opportunity to create eleven 
parking spaces and one disabled parking bay on this land to enhance the facilities for 
members, guests, visiting groups and the local community.  Work commenced on site after 
a lengthy legal transaction to acquire the gifted land.  The contractor laid a tarmac surface, 
installed concrete kerbs, marked out the parking bays with thermoplastic white lines, placed 
parking signage on the site and constructed a path from the car park to the entrance gate of 
the Bowling Green to ensure accessibility. 
 
Milnrow (Ladybarn) Bowling Club with about 100 members and 10 teams is a thriving club 
and the additional parking provision has been welcomed by visiting groups and the local 
community who can take advantage of the ‘open member’ facilities offered by the club.  The 
club’s enhanced access to the entrance and garden area was recognised in the RHS North 
West in Bloom 2018 It’s Your Neighbourhood competition with a Level 5 Outstanding 
Award. 

Page 55



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

“…this has significantly improved the 
area and thus the enjoyment of visitors to 
the Enviro Gym” 
Jane Taylor-Holmes 
Secretary 

Friends of Hollingworth Lake 

 

Recipient: Friends of Hollingworth Lake 

Project: Enviro Gym Improvements 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £2,828 

 

Friends of Hollingworth Lake aim to develop new and existing facilities at Hollingworth Lake 
Country Park to improve, create and restore the environment of the area and increase 
usage of this valued local beauty spot.  Hollingworth Lake Country Park was known as “The 
Weighvers Seaport” in Victorian times and spans 130 acres with the beautiful Blackstone 
Edge moorland providing a dramatic backdrop.  The Country Park is a prime tourist 
destination for the Rochdale Borough and beyond, with numerous activities that promote 
the preservation of the environment, ensure the potential for tourism is realised, while 
encouraging responsible public use and support for green infrastructure investment.  
Signage about local flora and fauna is located in relevant locations around the park to 
enable visitors to enjoy the wildlife and many species of plants.  Rangers with the help of 
green volunteers conduct wildlife surveys and monitor species at this beautiful location.  
Working in partnership with local schools, educational programmes are developed and 
delivered that create a greater understanding and awareness of the importance of the 
nature areas, wildlife and environment for future generations.  Hollingworth Lake Country 
Park hosts wildlife safaris for young children, bush craft skills events, guided walks, 
community arts, environmental exhibitions, angling, rowing, sailing and boating sessions. 
 
The Enviro Gym was installed at Hollingworth Lake in 2010 and it features a variety of 
equipment for children up to 15 years old to explore and challenge themselves with different 
obstacles.  The equipment constructed primarily out of wood is in keeping with the environment 
of Hollingworth Lake Country Park and provides users of the Enviro Gym with the opportunity to 
be active in safe and pleasant surroundings. 

Page 56



       

 

The Friends of group organised the creation of paths to enhance the access areas to the 
Enviro Gym.  Grassed areas were replaced with rubber mulch constructed of recycled 
material that has an appearance of bark to provide a slip resistant and wheelchair or pram 
accessible natural looking surface.  Also the water permeable safety surface was placed 
beneath some items of play equipment as it offered a durable solution to issues with 
drainage and child fall protection.  Turf was installed to reinstate grassed areas near the 
new paths that had become worn and unsightly.  Improvement works to the Enviro Gym 
have enhanced the visitor experience and ensured the facility is accessible and can be 
enjoyed all year round. 

Page 57



 

“…unexpected difference that the new 
decoration and curtains have made to the 
feel of the space.  The Trust could not be 
more pleased with the outcome in terms of 
the way the room now looks” 
Mark Pearson 
Secretary 

Littleborough Coach House Trust 

 

Recipient: Littleborough Coach House Trust 

Project: Littleborough Coach House Harvey Room Refurbishment 

Fund: Projects Fund 

Awarded: £2,340 
 

Littleborough Coach House Trust is a registered charity with the custodian of a Grade 2 
listed building of architectural and historical interest within an important conservation area in 
the heart of the Littleborough community.  The Trust is managed by a voluntary Board of 
Directors and supported by a voluntary Friends of organisation.  Open to the public daily, 
Littleborough Coach House is a heritage centre with tourist information, gallery space for 
local artists and craft displays, venue for community groups to meet and host public events 
with the Harvey Room and Victoria Room function/conferences spaces with an area for 
provision of refreshments and licensed bar.  Cherry Tree Café offers a range of drinks, 
snacks and light meals to visitors and caters for meetings and events. 
 
A programme of refurbishment in the Coach House consisting of new flooring to the main 
staircase and first floor lobby, loft access for storage, security gate and external signage has 
been resourced from a mixture of the Trust’s own funds and grant aid.  The principal 
function/meeting room for local groups and events known as the Harvey Room required 
redecoration and the replacement of curtains and track/poles to freshen the appearance of 
this meeting space.  This room is used on a regular basis each week as a venue for local 
tutors to deliver classes primarily relating to health/relaxation and it is made available on a 
quarterly basis for the Craft Market to complement the Farmers Market as well as throughout 
the year for weddings, christenings and other parties.  Walls throughout the room were 
painted cream and eight pairs of curtains in the design Memphis Aqua Blue on steel poles 
have been installed.  The Harvey Room has been given a more attractive, modern feel 
creating a pleasant environment for community groups and private hire users, and ensuring 
the income stream required by the Coach House Trust to continue its work in the 
community. 

Page 58



APPENDIX 5

PENNINES TOWNSHIP FUNDING STREAMS 2019/20

REVENUE FUNDS 2019/20 = £133,431

REVENUE FUNDS

Fund b/f 2018/19 Base Budget
Income/

Adjustments

Total Budget 

2019/20
Committed

Budget 

Available 

2019/20

Notes

Projects Fund £34,986 £64,500 £0 £99,486 £24,439 £75,047 Fund to resource larger revenue projects that meet the 

Township priorities.  Base budget of £64,500 with retained 

budget of £24,439 (see committed column) for projects 

approved pre 2019/20.

Events Fund £0 £5,000 £0 £5,000 £0 £5,000 Fund to resource events organised for the benefit of the local 

community.  Base budget of £5,000.

Ward Revenue Fund £4,060 £12,000 £0 £16,060 £4,060 £12,000 Fund to resource smaller revenue projects that address local 

issues/demands for the benefit of the local community and 

environment.  Base budget of £12,000 will provide each 

Pennines Township Ward with £3,000 to allocate to revenue 

projects within their Ward.  A retained budget of £4,060 (see 

committed column) relates to projects approved pre 2019/20.

Town Centres Fund £12,885 £0 £0 £12,885 £5,000 £7,885 Fund received from Rochdale Council’s Economic Affairs 

Unit for the purpose of assisting the town centres within the 

Pennines Township to grow, prosper and diversify.  Grants 

will be made available to support creative ideas and to 

generate increased business and interest in shopping at 

local town centres/high streets in Pennines Township.

TOTAL £51,931 £81,500 £0 £133,431

Page 1 of 2

P
age 59



CAPITAL FUNDS 2019/20 = £82,200

CAPITAL FUNDS

Fund b/f 2018/19 Base Budget
Income/

Adjustments

Total Budget 

2019/20
Committed

Budget 

Available 

2019/20

Notes

Capital Fund £4,336 £69,600 £0 £73,936 £1,006 £72,930 Fund to resource larger capital projects that meet the 

Township priorities.  Base budget of £69,600 with retained 

budget of £1,006 (see committed column) for projects 

approved pre 2019/20.

Ward Capital Fund £264 £8,000 £0 £8,264 £264 £8,000 Fund to resource smaller capital projects that address local 

issues/demands for the benefit of the local community and 

environment.  Base budget of £8,000 will provide each 

Pennines Township Ward with £2,000 to allocate to capital 

projects within their Ward.  A retained budget of £264 (see 

committed column) relates to a project approved pre 

2019/20.

TOTAL £4,600 £77,600 £0 £82,200

Page 2 of 2

P
age 60



 

Form PT02 

1 

 

 

PPEENNNNIINNEESS  TTOOWWNNSSHHIIPP  FFUUNNDD  TTEERRMMSS  AANNDD  CCOONNDDIITTIIOONNSS  22001199//2200 
 

1. Purpose of the fund 

 

Pennines Township’s vision is to create sustainable urban and semi-rural communities in our Township 
where people feel safe and have a sense of community and belonging.  We want the local community to have 
access to appropriate housing, employment, leisure and community facilities, and proper social and family 
support. 
 
Pennines Township funds can be used to offer support to projects and organisations that are of direct benefit 
to the community and environment of the Pennines area.  Councillors, Council Services, partner agencies, 
third sector organisations and area forums can submit projects on relevant application forms for funding from 
Pennines Township Funds. 
 

All projects must show how they will address the Pennines Township priorities of: 
 

 People – We will safeguard and protect our vulnerable people and support people of all ages to be 
healthier, confident, and resilient, in control and successfully managing their lives.  We will enable 
communities to thrive and develop. 

 Place – We will create safe, resilient, flourishing and high quality places where people choose to live, work 
and invest. 

 Prosperity – We will encourage business growth and enterprise; increase our skills levels and create 
the conditions for the creation of good quality jobs. 

 

2. What can be funded 

 

a) Projects aiming to meet Township priorities. 

b) Projects for which there is no other identifiable budget and are within the powers of the Council. 

c) Projects that supplement or enhance current Council service provision. 

d) Improvements to landscapes or public areas, eg providing additional seating, paving, railings, etc. 

e) Restoration of buildings or landscaping as part of a heritage scheme. 

f) Projects that can clearly demonstrate benefit to the local community such as providing bollards, 
fencing, lights, CCTV, etc. 

g) Projects that can be delivered with no additional revenue costs. 

h) Equipment hire or purchase such as IT equipment, sports equipment, arts and crafts materials, etc. 

i) Publicity materials for use in your project and recognises the contribution made by the Township. 

j) Specialist trainers/assessors to deliver qualifications/courses/activities. 
k) Hiring of venues to enable the project to be delivered (not general running costs). 
l) Talented young athletes competing at national/international level supported by a recognised sporting 

body. 
 

3. What cannot be funded 

 

a) Projects that would normally be funded through mainstream budgets, that duplicates or replaces 
existing services or that the Council or other body has a statutory obligation to provide. 

b) Projects benefiting individuals. 

c) Improvements to private land or buildings resulting in equity gain, unless there is a demonstrable wider 
community benefit or Pennines Township is responsible for the maintenance of the land. 

d) Alterations to land solely for parking provision.  Rochdale Council does not have a statutory duty to 
provide parking on residential streets.  Being able to park close to a property is viewed as a privilege 
as no person has the right to park on the Highway.  Removal of permeable surfaces such as grass 
verges increases surface water run-off.  Whilst removing verges in isolated locations will have a small 
impact, the accumulative effect on the drainage network will be noticeable and increase the risk of 
surface water flooding over time. 

e) Promoting religious or political causes. 

APPENDIX 6 

Page 61



 

Form PT02 

2 

f) Campaigning or carrying out activities to influence a Council decision in the exercise of its statutory 
functions. 

g) Support for the general work of charities including fundraising events. 

h) Wages or expenses for permanent, contract or regular members of staff. 

i) General running costs, eg utility bills, maintenance and repair of assets, etc. 

j) Parties/day trips out. 

k) Purchase of alcohol. 

l) Activities already started or purchasing items before funding is awarded. 

m) Purchasing or hiring of vehicles. 
n) Purchasing insurance. 
 

4. Terms and conditions 

 

a) The expenditure must be within the powers of the Council. 

b) The project must benefit the Township community or environment and meet at least one of the 
Pennines Township priorities (see section 1). 

c) Grants can only be made to non-profit making formally constituted groups with their own group bank 
account. 

d) Applicants will be required to attend the committee considering their grant application to respond to 
questions to aid the decision making process.  Failure to attend the committee will result in the 
application being deferred to a future meeting. 

e) All grants must be spent/claimed within six months of approval.  Any extension to this period must be 
made in writing and is subject to the Chair and Vice Chair of Pennines Township Delegated and 
Funding Sub Committee’s discretion. 

f) The grant must be used for the purposes for which it was approved.  Any requests for change of use 
must be made in writing and is subject to the Chair and Vice Chair of Pennines Township Delegated 
and Funding Sub Committee’s discretion. 

g) VAT on purchases relating to the project must only be included in the amount requested if it cannot be 
claimed back from HM Revenue and Customs. 

h) Applicants are responsible for ensuring that all necessary permissions (such as planning permission), 
regulations (such as health and safety) and insurance relating to their scheme/event are in place. 

i) Applicants are responsible for applying to Rochdale Council if they intend to hold a public event on 
Council owned land. 

j) Groups applying for a project to work with children, young people or vulnerable adults must have 
policies and procedures in place that explain how these people will be protected and remain safe. 

k) If public liability insurance is required for a community project, it is the responsibility of the group to 
ensure adequate insurance is in place. 

l) The Council does not accept any liability for damage, loss or future maintenance of any projects funded 
by Township Funds. 

m) The Council reserves the right to withhold or reclaim the grant monies if the terms and conditions are 
not adhered to. 

n) The Council’s approval must be sought for the disposal or transfer of any items acquired with the grant. 

o) Successful applicants must complete and return a Project Evaluation Form and provide copy 
invoices/receipts that reflect the amount awarded and purpose for which the grant was approved as 
detailed in the application form.  This information must be provided to Pennines Township Office within 
one month of the conclusion of the project.  Failure to return these documents will result in restrictions 
being imposed on the applicant relating to future requests for funding or reclaiming of the grant monies. 

p) Applicants will be required to participate in any press or media related activities relating to the grant. 

q) Applicants who seek to be awarded funds from Pennines Township on successive occasions need to 
demonstrate how they have tried to secure funding from other sources. 

r) Community/voluntary organisations are limited to one Pennines Township grant in any two consecutive 
financial years.  Community wide annual events in the Pennines Township may be considered for 
funding at the discretion of the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee. 

s) The Council reserves the right to add/change specific conditions relating to payment of the grant, the 
purpose of the grant and/or the activities to be funded. 

Page 62



 

Form PT02 

3 

 

5. Decision Making Process 
 

a) All projects must be submitted on an application form with supporting documentation. 

b) Application forms are checked by Township Officers to see if the project meets the terms and 
conditions of the fund. 

c) Projects not meeting the terms and conditions or incomplete application forms will be referred back to 
the applicant within 10 working days with a written explanation.  At this point applicants may be 
requested to supply additional information. 

d) Township Officers will refer projects for funding over £5,000 to the next Pennines Township Delegated 
and Funding Sub Committee for decision. 

e) Township Officers can use the officer scheme of delegation process for projects for funding of £5,000 
or less. 

f) Township Officers will refer projects to be funded from Ward Funds to Ward Councillors to seek their 
support and submit for delegated decision on confirmation of majority agreement to a project. 

g) Any disputes concerning allocation of funds will be referred to the next Pennines Township Delegated 
and Funding Sub Committee for decision. 

h) Applicants will be advised of decisions in writing within 15 working days of the Pennines Township 
Delegated and Funding Sub Committee meeting. 

i) Township Officers will consult with the Chair and Ward Councillors about the future of a project when a 
Councillor has committed funds to a project and subsequently decided not to stand for election or has 
not been re-elected. 

j) There is no appeals process, but applicants may submit a fresh application. 
 

6. Commissioning Process 
 

a) All parties to do everything within their power to ensure the completion of the project to the specification 
and achieve the desired outcome within the specified timescale and costs. 

b) Proposed schemes/projects need to be developed in consultation with the relevant service to ensure 
alternative funding is not available and that they have resources available to cover any future 
maintenance/monitoring requirements. 

c) Any variations in costs or outcomes by either party should be negotiated and agreed between the 
provider and the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee prior to incurring any 
additional costs. 

d) Where the Township wish to vary the specification – the service provider will identify the implications of 
the change, i.e. time extensions, impact on outcomes, etc. and additional costs, and agree the 
variations with the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee. 

e) Where the service provider may wish to vary the specification – the service provider should submit the 
variations to the Township Office with justification prior to incurring additional costs for consideration by 
the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee.  The Committee may decide not to 
accept the variations in which case the project continues to the original specification or if the 
Committee accepts the variations, to agree the funding of any additional costs from the Township 
Funds. 

f) The service provider will receive sufficient budget transferred from the Township Fund to cover the cost 
of the project on the Township Office receiving evidence of the start of the project as agreed.  Stage 
payments may be agreed. 

g) The service provider agrees to provide regular monitoring reports on the project in terms of achieving 
the outcomes, performance against targets and finance, and post project evaluation reports. 

h) Where a service provider does not satisfy the performance targets for the project, the Pennines 
Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee may, after consultation with the service provider, 
withhold funds (or withdraw funds previously transferred to a Council Service). 

i) Any unapproved additional costs incurred by the service provider must be borne by the service provider 
unless agreed otherwise with the Pennines Township Delegated and Funding Sub Committee. 

j) Service providers external to the Council will be required to submit invoices. 

Page 63



Report to Pennines Township Committee

Date of Meeting 12th June 2019
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Neighbourhoods, 
Community & Culture

Report Author Peter Thompson
Public/Private Document Public 

Pennines Township Delegation Arrangements and Appointments 
2019/20

Executive Summary

1. To request that the Township Committee confirms its delegated decision 
making arrangements for the 2019/20 Municipal Year and appoints Members 
to agreed roles including the Chairs, Vice Chairs and substitute members; and 
the appointment to other Township Bodies and outside bodies.

Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

2.3..

2.4

2.5

That the Sub-Committee structure of the Pennines Township Committee be 
confirmed comprising of the Pennines Delegated & Funding Sub-Committee, 
established in accordance with the Terms of Reference for the Sub-Committee 
as set out in Appendix 1 of the report.

That all Members of the Pennines Township Committee be appointed to the 
Pennines Township Delegated & Funding Sub-Committee and the Chair and 
Vice Chair be confirmed.

That the Regeneration & Facilities Service Group and Highways & 
Environmental Management Service Group be retained and all Members be 
appointed to each.

The relevant Ward Councillors be appointed to the following Ward Area 
Forum’s:
a) Milnrow, Newhey and Firgrove Area Forum 
b) Littleborough and Wardle Community Meeting

That four Members be appointed to the Ellenroad Trust Limited comprising the 
three Ward Councillors for the Milnrow and Newhey Ward plus one other. 

That one Member be appointed as a representative to the MoorEnd Trust’s 
Committee of Management.

Page 64

Agenda Item 9



2.6

2.7

2.8

       

That Members be appointed to the Township Planning Panel

That a Member be appointed to serve as the Township Older Persons 
Champion.

That a Member be appointed to serve as the Township Highways Champion.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

3.2

3.3

The Council has established and appoints Township Committees that may 
exercise both executive and non-executive powers as set out in the 
Responsibility for Council Functions in Part 3 of the Constitution. 

The Sub-Committee exercises either delegated powers or acts on any matter 
detailed in the Committee’s Terms of Reference on which it is essential to take 
a decision. 

Appointments are made, as far as is possible, in accordance with the 
Township Committee’s political balance.

The proper appointment of Sub-Committees is required to permit the
undertaking of delegated functions in accordance with statutory and
procedural requirements, and appointments to Working Groups and Other
Bodies are delegated functions to enable the Township Committee to 
undertake and respond to the full range of issues relevant to the Township.

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

The Pennines Township Delegated Sub-Committee currently exercises formal 
powers as detailed at Appendix 1, as a Sub-Committee for dealing with 
’urgent’ issues on behalf of the Township Committee and for making grant 
approvals and decisions on devolved budgets and Township Funds.

The approval of Township Sub-Committee arrangements are sought on an 
annual basis to afford Members to opportunity to review the arrangements and 
confirm that they remain appropriate for effective governance and the efficient 
processing of Township Funds. 

Alternatives Considered

The Committee could choose not to appoint to Sub-Committees and 
undertake all delegated functions themselves, but that this may have a 
detrimental impact on the ability to progress Township priorities or deal with 
urgent items of business.

Page 65



Costs and Budget Summary

5. There are no direct financial implications to this report.

Risk and Policy Implications

The Committee is being asked to confirm its delegation arrangements to 
ensure that decisions are made in accordance with relevant and statutory 
procedural requirements.  Not to appoint to the Sub-Committee and the 
working groups might limit member involvement in key initiatives for the 
Township.

6.

Consultation

7. None required.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. There are no background papers 
to this report.

Not applicable

For Further Information Contact: Peter Thompson, Tel: 01706 924715, 
peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

Page 66



Appendix 1

Pennines Township Funding & Delegated Sub-Committee – Terms of 
Reference 2019/2020

1. To deal with any urgent matters, on behalf of the Township Committee as 
detailed within Part 3, Paragraphs 8.1 and 8.2 of the Councils Constitution;

2. To monitor budgets delegated to the Township level (including Township
Funds), to ensure that all requirements and restrictions placed on any
devolved funding are met or are capable of being met before any
decisions are made;

3. To consider and determine all applications/ proposals to the Township
Funds, ensuring that all requirements and restrictions placed on any
devolved funding are met, or capable of being met, before any decisions
are made.

Page 67


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Proposed New Site of Biological Importance
	7 Objections to Traffic Regulation Order - Hollingworth Road and Canal Street, Littleborough
	8 Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 1 - Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 2 - Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 3 - Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 4 - Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 5 - Pennines Township Funds Review
	Appendix 6 - Pennines Township Funds Review

	9 Pennines Township Delegation Arrangements and Appointments 2019/20

